
 

 

 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development 
Committee 

Beaufort County, SC 
Council Chambers, Administration Building Beaufort County Government Robert Smalls 

Complex 100 Ribaut Road, Beaufort 

Monday, March 17, 2025 
2:00 PM 

AGENDA 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS: 
MARK LAWSON, CHAIRMAN    LOGAN CUNNINGHAM, VICE-CHAIR 
PAULA BROWN      GERALD DAWSON 
ANNA MARIA TABERNIK    ALICE HOWARD, EX-OFFICIO 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER:      Mark Lawson, Committee Chair 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:     Mark Lawson, Committee Chair 

3. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH FOIA:   Mark Lawson, Committee Chair 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - February 18, 2025 

6. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD- 15 MINUTES 

7. CFO REPORT- YTD FINANCIAL REPORTS - Pinky Harriott, Chief Financial Officer 

8. FY2025 BUDGET AMENDMENT FOR FUND 4000 - CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND  (FISCAL IMPACT: The 
impact of the budget amendment will result in the budget for Fund 4000- Capital Improvement Fund to 
be reduced due to the amount of the 2025 Bond Issuance being lower than initially budgeted. We 
currently have $70,000,000.00 budgeted for using the bonds, but now only plan to allocate 
approximately $58,000,000.00 of bond proceeds towards County projects.  An additional 
$16,000,000.00 of the bond proceeds will be allocated towards projects approved for Beaufort 
Memorial Hospital & Technical College of the Lowcountry) -  Pinky Harriott, CFO 

9. AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL ORDINANCE 2021/24, WHICH ESTABLISHED THE SOLID WASTE AND 
RECYCLING ENTERPRISE SYSTEM (FISCAL IMPACT: No change in fiscal impact; the millage (3.2mils) 
associated with the SWR Enterprise Fund will return to the County Operations millage as was before) -
Pinky Harriott, CFO 

10. A RESOLUTION RECOGNIZING APRIL 2025 AS FAIR HOUSING MONTH - Audra Antonacci-Ogden, Assistant 
County Administrator - Community Services  

1



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

11. A RESOLUTION APPROVING BEAUFORT COUNTY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COPORTATION’S REQUEST 
TO PURCHASE 14.77 ACRES FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AT 134 PARKER DRIVE, BEAUFORT (Fiscal 
Impact: $460,000.00 from Account 1010-10-0000-55240 (Current Balance $3,293,237.10)) – John 
O’Toole, Executive Director, Beaufort County Economic Development Corporation 

12. RATIFICATION AND APPROVAL OF A CHANGE ORDER OF $135,649.66 REFERENCE RFQ #092520E: A & E 
SERVICES; BUCWALTER RECREATION ATHLETIC COMPLEX EXPANSION (BRACE) (Fiscal Impact: 
$135,649.66) - Dave Thomas, Procurement Services Director 

13. THE REAPPOINTMENT OF ANDREW DISALVO TO THE BOARD OF ASSESSMENT APPEALS FOR A FOUR-
YEAR TERM WITH THE EXPIRATION DATE OF FEBRUARY 2029. 

14. ADJOURNMENT 

TO WATCH COMMITTEE OR COUNTY COUNCIL MEETINGS OR FOR A COMPLETE LIST OF AGENDAS AND 
BACKUP PACKAGES, PLEASE VISIT: 

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html 

2

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html


 

 

 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development 
Committee 

Beaufort County, SC 
Executive Conference Room, Administration Building, Beaufort County Government, Robert 

Smalls Complex, 100 Ribaut Road, Beaufort 

Tuesday, February 18, 2025 
2:00 PM 

MINUTES 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS: 
MARK LAWSON, CHAIRMAN    LOGAN CUNNINGHAM, VICE-CHAIR 
PAULA BROWN      GERALD DAWSON 
ANNA MARIA TABERNIK    ALICE HOWARD, EX-OFFICIO 

 
        The video stream of this meeting is available on the County’s website: 
                  https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/335076 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Committee Chairman Lawson called the meeting to order at 2:00 pm 
 
PRESENT 
Committee Chair Mark Lawson 
Committee Vice-Chair Logan Cunningham 
Council Member Paula Brown 
Council Member Alice Howard 
Council Member Anna Maria Tabernik 
Council Member York Glover 
Council Member Joseph Passiment 
 
ABSENT 
Council Member Gerald Dawson 
Council Member David Bartholomew 
Council Member Lawrence McElynn 
Council Member Thomas Reitz 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Committee Chairman Lawson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

3. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH FOIA 

3

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/335076


Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, seconded by Council Member Cunningham to 
approve the agenda.  

The Vote: The motion was approved without objection. 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - January 27, 2025 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Brown, seconded by Council Member Tabernik, to approve the 
minutes from January 27, 2025.  

The Vote: The motion was approved without objection. 

6. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD- 15 MINUTES 

No citizen comments 

7. FY 2024 ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT (ACFR)- Pinky Harriott, CFO 

Beaufort County external auditor, to present the FY2024 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report- David 
Irwin, CPA, Mauldin and Jenkins 

To view the full presentation: https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/335076?ts=99 

8. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER REPORT - Pinky Harriott, CFO 

FY 2025 Year-to-Date Budget Report - Pinky Harriott, CFO 

To view the full presentation: https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/335076?ts=1214 

9. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE 
AN AMENDMENT TO AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT REGARDING AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING. Dylan Kidd, Deputy County Attorney 

September 26, 2022, the County Council adopted Resolution 2022/51 authorizing the County 
Administrator to enter into an intergovernmental agreement for affordable housing with Jasper County, 
the Town of Hilton Head Island, the Town of Bluffton, the Town of Port Royal, the City of Beaufort, the City 
of Hardeeville, and the Town of Yemassee.  

Due to developments since the creation of the RHTF and the execution of the intergovernmental 
agreement, the government entities desire to amend the original intergovernmental to: (1) remove the 
reference to the "William C. Mescher Local Housing Trust Fund Enabling Act"; (2) include a definition of 
the "Beaufort Jasper Housing Trust, Inc."; (3) further define the terms and responsibilities of the Oversight 
Board; (4) include additional conditions regarding the Term and Termination of the Agreement; and (5) 
amend terms regarding the Administration and Fiscal Agent related to the RHTF. 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, seconded by Council Member Cunningham, to 
approve a Resolution Authorizing the County Administrator to Execute an Amendment to an 
Intergovernmental Agreement Regarding Affordable Housing. 

The Vote: The motion was approved without objection. 

To view the full discussion: https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/335076?ts=1450 

10. DISCUSSION: State A-Tax Review - Vice-Chair Tabernik 

State A-Tax review of Awards in partnership with USC- Beaufort 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member Brown to Open 
Up the Item for Discussion. 

No Vote. 

4

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/335076?ts=99
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/335076?ts=1214
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/335076?ts=1450


Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

To view the full discussion: https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/335076?ts=3659 

11. THE REAPPOINTMENTS OF THOMAS SHEAHAN, NICHOLAS MESENBURG, LESLIE FLORY, ANNE ESPOSITO, 
HOWARD ACKERMAN & CHRISTOPHER BUTLER TO THE AIRPORTS BOARD FOR A TWO-YEAR TERM WITH 
AN EXPIRATION DATE OF FEBRUARY 2027 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Paula Brown to Approve the 
Reappointments of Thomas Sheahan, Nicholas Mesenburg, Leslie Flory, Anne Esposito, Howard 
Ackerman, and Christopher Butler to the Airports Board for a Two-Year Term with an Expiration Date of 
February 2027 

The Vote: The motion was approved without objection 

12. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE REAPPOINTMENT OF PAUL JERNIGAN TO THE BOARD OF ASSESSMENT 
APPEALS FOR A FOUR-YEAR TERM WITH THE EXPIRATION DATE OF FEBRUARY 2029. 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, Seconded by Council Member Howard to Approve 
the Reappointment of Paul Jernigan to the Board of Assessment Appeals for a Four-Year Term with the 
Expiration Date of February 2029. 

The Vote: The motion was approved without objection. 

13. ADJOURNMENT 

3:32 pm 

 

Ratified:  

 

 

5

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/335076?ts=3659


1

Finance Committee
FY2025 YTD Budget Reports 6

Item 7.



General Fund- Revenues
2025 Revised Budget 2025 Actual 2025 Percent Rec/Used

GENERAL FUND 1000
REVENUES

41 Ad Valorem 115,574,500.00$         112,482,775.00$  97%
42 License & Permits 4,811,500.00$             2,261,726.00$      47%
43 Intergovernmental 11,802,756.00$           4,876,592.00$      41%
44 Charges for Services 15,946,647.00$           10,364,582.00$    65%
45 Fines & Forfeitures 759,500.00$                 512,467.00$          67%
46 Interest 2,150,000.00$             2,998,051.00$      139%
47 Misc 1,470,300.00$             1,165,367.00$      79%
48 Cont from PY Fund Balance 6,026,812.00$             -$                         0%
49 Transfers In 1,630,000.00$             1,142,049.00$      70%

TOTAL REVENUE 160,172,015.00$         135,803,609.00$  85%

7

Item 7.



General Fund- Expenditures

EXPENDITURES by DIVISION
10 General Government 73,886,349.00$           43,760,316.00$    59%
20 Public Safety 58,516,793.00$           38,760,185.00$    66%
30 Public Works 12,323,132.00$           7,805,868.00$      63%
40 Public Health 1,892,360.00$             1,073,971.00$      57%
50 Public Welfare 753,616.00$                 710,869.00$          94%
60 Cultural & Recreation 12,799,765.00$           8,009,627.00$      63%

TOTAL 160,172,015.00$         100,120,836.00$  63%

8

Item 7.



Dept Budget Actual Percent 
(%)

Solid Waste & 
Recycling

$           12,538,045.00 $       8,717,221.00 70%
Stormwater 

$           10,987,096.00 $       7,308,281.00 67%
Beaufort Executive 
Airport

$              2,677,200.00 $          615,445.00 23%
Hilton Head Airport

$              5,301,630.00 $       3,153,444.00 59%

Enterprise Funds - Revenues

9

Item 7.



Enterprise Funds - Expenditures
Dept Budget Actual Percent 

(%)
Solid Waste & 
Recycling

$           12,538,045.00 $       6,965,084.00 56%
Stormwater 

$           10,987,096.00 $       4,323,956.00 39%
Beaufort Executive 
Airport

$              2,677,200.00 $          696,562.00 26%
Hilton Head Airport

$              5,301,630.00 $       2,924,642.00 55%

10

Item 7.



FY 25 BUDGET TRANSFER TRACKING FINANCE COMMITTEE 3/17/2025  

DATE DEPARTMENT FROM ACCOUNT
FROM ACCOUNT 

DESCRIPTION
TO ACCOUNT

TO ACCOUNT 
DESCRIPTION

AMOUNT JUSTIFICATION
REVISED 

BUDGET FROM
REVISED 

BUDGET TO

2/24/2025 Fleet 1000-10-3500-52010 Supplies and Materials 4000-80-3500-54200 Capital Equipment $78,600.00
$25,000 for BCSO Message Board; $28,600 for Fleet Tire Mounting 
Machine; $25,000 for Fleet Tire Balancer $191,900.00 $78,600.00

2/24/2025 Human Services 2503-50-0000-52600 Non-Cap Equipment 2503-50-0000-51150 Rentals $50.00

Adjustment for increased equipment rental fees for ABR printer 
services.
Edited to transfer within the same fund 2503. $1,700.00 $200.00

2/24/2025 Fleet 1000-10-3500-52010 Supplies and Materials 1000-10-3500-51300
VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 

SERVICES $25,000.00 Budget transfer necessary to enter change orders. $191,900.00 $1,025,000.00

2/24/2025 Mosquito Control 1000-40-1400-52010 Supplies and Materials 1000-40-1400-51120 Equipment Maintenance $35,500.00

The annual maintenance cost for the helicopter came in much 
higher than expected after several items were found during the in-
depth inspection of the aircraft which is required every 2 years.  
Once found, these items are required to be replaced/fixed before 
the inspector can sign off on the aircraft being safe to fly. $620,000.00 $135,500.00

2/24/2025 Mosquito Control 1000-40-1400-52010 Supplies and Materials 1000-40-1400-51030 Postage $500.00

The navigation system for the helicopter (AgNav) had to be sent off 
to be upgraded to be night vision compatible.  When it as returned, 
we found that it would not hook up to the internet and had to be 
sent back to the company.  Also, the pilot's helmet had to be sent 
off to have a mount put on it to accept the night vision goggles. $1,000.00

2/24/2025 Sheriff 2253-20-0000-50130
Employer PO 

Retirement 2253-20-0000-51320 Training and Conf $5,000.00
The funds are needed for 8 officers to attend the South Carolina 
Association of School Resource Officers Conference. $149,354.00 $17,000.00

2/25/2025 Magistrate 1000-10-1081-52010 Supplies and Materials 1000-10-1081-51310 Dues and Subscriptions $2,000.00 To purchase SC Rules of Court publications. $42,000.00 $10,200.00

2/26/2025 AIRPORTS 5100-90-0000-51130 REPAIRS TO BUILDING 5100-90-0000-51310 Dues and Subscriptions $600.00

The current balance for the GL account 5100-90-0000-51310 is 
$418.09. We kindly request your approval for a budget transfer to 
facilitate the payment of an outstanding invoice. $42,100.00 $6,000.00

2/24/2025 IT - GIS 1000-10-1152-51160 Professional Services 1000-10-1152-51320 Training and Conf $5,500.00
We have three staff members presenting papers at a Regional GIS 
conference. $114,500.00 $15,500.00

2/28/2025 AIRPORTS 5100-90-0000-54100 Site Development 5100-90-0000-51160 Professional Services $1,800.00

The current balance for the GL account 5100-90-0000-51160 is 
$434.25. We kindly request your approval for a budget transfer to 
facilitate the payment of an outstanding invoice and upcoming 
invoices. $1,431,400.00 $2,300.00

2/28/2025 Fleet 1000-10-3500-52590
Fuel-Outside Agency 

Purchase 1000-10-3500-51150 Rentals $5,000.00

Facility Maintenance does not have a lift to reach Parks and Rec 
lights. Also for future rentals because DSN will be needing to rent a 
van coming up soon. $18,500.00 $8,000.00

3/4/2025 AIRPORTS 5400-90-0000-54200 CAPITAL EQUIPMENT 5400-90-0000-51160-ADMIN Professional Services $8,000.00
to facilitate the preparation of a requisition entry for $134,128.97 
and payment for upcoming invoices. $550,963.00 $201,200.00

3/7/2025 Alcohol & Drug 2555-40-2400-51160 Professional Services 2555-40-2400-52010 Supplies & Materials $5,000.00

FY25 Supplies & Materials expense exceeds the budget amount 
due to an increase in expenses from projection and increased 
organizational activity. $55,497.00 $60,967.00

3/7/2025 Land Preservation 1000-60-1610-52600 Non-Cap Equipment $125.18 $19,460.82
3/7/2025 Land Preservation 1000-60-1610-52050 Uniforms $0.79 $820.21
3/7/2025 Land Preservation 1000-60-1610-51320 Training and Conf $0.87 $2,710.13

3/7/2025 Land Preservation 1000-60-1610-51160 Professional Services $3,000.00 $191,682.00
3/7/2025 Land Preservation 1000-60-1610-52010 Supplies & Materials $3,126.84 $8,126.84

Moving leftover funds from fully expensed line items to Supplies 
and Materials for end of year needs.

Moving unused Professional Services funds to Supplies and 
Materials to accommodate needs for changing the Department 

name, hiring a new staff member, and animal ambassador 
habitats.

11

Item 7.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

FY2025 Budget Amendment for Fund 4000- Capital Improvement Fund 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration & Economic Development Committee, March 17, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Pinky Harriott, CGFO- Chief Financial Officer 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

During the FY2025 Budget process, the anticipated bond revenues were budgeted amongst various 
funds, but since then due to changes in staffing & administration, the total amount of the actual 
FY2025 Bond Issuance changed from $90,300,000.00 to $72,000,000, which includes the portions for 
Beaufort Memorial Hospital & Technical College of the Lowcountry. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

This budget amendment will amend Section III B. Capital Improvement Fund to change the amount of 
bond proceeds from $70,175,728 to $68,616,839; amend Section IV B. Capital Imporvement Fund 
from $100,013,828.00 to $98,454,939 as appropriated for County Capital Improvements.  It will also 
add Appendix A: FY2025 Budget Amendment – 2025 Bond Issuance List of Projects & Appendix B: 
Capital Projects List for 2025 Bonds.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

The impact of the budget amendment will result in the budget for Fund 4000- Capital Improvement 
Fund to be reduced due to the amount of the 2025 Bond Issuance being lower than originally 
budgeted. We currently have $70,000,000.00 budgeted for using the bonds, but now only plan to 
allocate approximately $58,000,000.00 of bond proceeds towards County projects.  An additional 
$16,000,000.00 of the bond proceeds  will be allocated towards projects approved for Beaufort 
Memorial Hospital & Technical College of the Lowcountry. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Approve the budget amendment and move to full Council for First Reading 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

motion to recommend approval of the budget amendment to Council and forward to Council for the 
First Reading at the next County Council meeting;  or 

Recommend denial of the budget amendment to Council and forward to Council for the First Reading 
at the next County Council meeting. 

 

12

Item 8.



ORDINANCE 2025/ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND BEAUFORT COUNTY'S BUDGET ORDINANCE FOR 

FISCAL YEAR 2025 (ORDINANCE NO. 2024/25) TO AMEND SECTION III COUNTY 

OPERATIONS REVENUE, PARAGRAPH B. CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND; AND 

SECTION IV. COUNTY OPERATIONS APPROPRIATION, PARAGRAPGH B. CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT FUND AND ADD APPENDIX A AND APPENDIX B TO THE FY2025 

BUDGET 

WHEREAS, the Beaufort County Council, pursuant to the authority granted by the 

Constitution of the State of South Carolina and the General Assembly of the State of South Carolina, 

has the authority to prepare an annual budget for all Beaufort County Department, Agencies, Elected 

Officials, Boards and Commissions; and 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County Council adopted Ordinance 2024/25 on June 27, 2024, which 

set the County's FY 2025 budget and associated expenditures; and 

WHEREAS, it has been determined that it is necessary and proper to appropriate certain 

funds for expenses which are in immediate need; and 

WHEREAS, during the FY 2025 Budget process the anticipated bond revenues were 

budgeted among various funds for the amount of $90,300,000.00, but due to changes in staffing and 

administration, reduction in the costs of certain capital projects, and removal of certain capital 

projects, as identified in Appendices A and B after approval of the budget for FY 2025, the County 

Council approved the reduction of the Bond Issuance from $90,300,000.00 to $72,000,000.00; and 

WHEREAS, the impact of this budget amendment will result in the budget for Fund 4000- 

Capital Improvement Fund being reduced; and   

WHEREAS, the County included $70,000,000.00 of bond revenue in the budget for the 

Capital Improvement Fund, but as a result of the budget amendment, it will be amended to 

$68,616,839 of bond revenue being allocated towards County projects; and  

WHEREAS, $16,000,000.00 will be appropriated for use towards projects approved for 

Beaufort Memorial Hospital and Technical College of the Lowcountry as identified in Appendix B; 

and 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County Council desires to amend the budget ordinance to reflect the 

accurate departmental budgets accordingly; and 

WHEREAS, in the interest of good accounting practices and transparency in the budget 

process, it is beneficial and necessary to amend the budget to reflect the changes as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL 

that the FY 2025 Beaufort County Budget Ordinance 2024/25 is hereby amended as follows:  

 

SECTION III. COUNTY OPERATIONS REVENUES 

B Capital Improvement Fund. The appropriation for County Capital Improvements will be funded from 

tax collections of $8,691,000, interest revenue of $1,000,000, bond proceeds of $70,175,728, 68,616,839.00 

and use of fund balance of $20,147,100 totaling $100,013,828. $98,454,939.00. 

 

 

 

 

13

Item 8.



 

 

SECTION IV.  COUNTY OPERATIONS APPROPRIATION 

 

B. Capital Improvement Fund. The amount of $100,013,828 $98,454,939.00 appropriated for County Capital 

Improvements will be expended for Capital Expenditures. All encumbrances as set forth in Exhibit "A", 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, shall be carried forward into Fiscal Year 2025. 

 

Appendix A Capital Projects List for 2025 Bonds dated March 6, 2025; and  

 

Appendix B The FY 2025 Budget Amendment – 2025 Bond Issuance List of Projects; 

 

shall be added as Appendices to the FY 2025 Budget Ordinance 2024/25.  

 

Done this ___ day of _________ 2025. 

 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

 

      By: ___________________________________ 

             Alice Howard, Chairman  
 

 

 

ATTEST: 

     

      

________________________ 
Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

 

14

Item 8.



Description: Original Bond Budget: 2025 Series GO Bond: Notes:
1 Daufuskie Island Ferry Embarkation $8,000,000.00 $0.00 Originally budgeted from anticipated Bond Funds
2 Public Works Complex $45,000,000.00 $25,075,000.00 Project Scope reduced for new 2025 Bonds
3 EMS Headquarters (Joint w/City of Bft) $7,000,000.00 $0.00 Originally budgeted based on old bond amount
4 Tax Software $3,300,000.00 $0.00
5 Misc County Projects $2,000,000.00 $0.00 Broken out below in new bond
6 Equipment & Vehicles $3,000,000.00 $0.00 Rec'd funding from GF Fund Balance
7 Facilities Capital Projects $100,000.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget
8 Public Safety Capital Projects $627,227.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget
9 Sheriff's Office Capital Projects $965,000.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget

10 DSN Capital Projects $78,700.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget
11 Parks & Rec Capital Projects $1,830,000.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget
12 Community Center Capital Projects $5,000,000.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget
13 Passive Parks Capital Projects $5,940,912.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget
14 St. James Church $3,500,000.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget
15 Future Government Complex $9,500,000.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget
16 USCB Convocation Center $6,000,000.00 $0.00 Project not funded by new bond
17 BMH Affordable Housing $2,000,000.00 $2,000,000.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget
18 BMH New Hospital Project $8,000,000.00 $8,000,000.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget
19 TCL Future Government Complex $6,000,000.00 $6,000,000.00 Was not budgeted in FY2025 Budget

$90,300,000.00 $68,616,839.00

FY2025 Budget Amendment- 2025 Bond Issuance

15

Item 8.



Link DEPARTMENT: PROJECT TITLE: PROJECT #
PROJECT 
STATUS: A

C
A

 
C

la
ss

ifi
ca

tio
n*

**
** FY

20
25

 B
on

d

C
om

m
en

ts

PW2 Public Works Public Works Administration 
Building North

2023027 Design Bond 25,000,000$     

PW1 Public Works Public Works Parking Lot Repair 24008 Construction Bond 75,000$             $1.225M in unencumbered funds movd from 
FY24 to FY 25. This is an additional $75K to 
finish the assessment of lower priority lots. 

F27 Facility 
Management

BIV #1, #2, and #3 Minor 
Renovations - Roof and finishes

2024010 Construction Bond 100,000$           Remaining work is BIV #1 flooring, possible 
walls, and slab foundation. 

AS1 Animal Services Animal Shelter Play yards 24AS01 Not Started Bond 57,487$            

DC2 Detention Center Retrofit Food Port Doors on Cells 2022018 Conceptual 
Planning

Bond 550,740$          

DC4 Detention Center Stun Cuff 25DC5 Not Started Bond 19,000$             5 sets (cost verified) 

D5 Disabilities and 
Special Needs

Drainage system exterior of DSN 250D05 Not Started Bond 35,000$            

D2 Disabilities and 
Special Needs

Remodel cafeteria in building B 
(Day Program)

250D02 Not Started Bond 43,700$            

SH5 Sheriff's Office IT Server System Expansion 25SH5 Conceptual 
Planning

Bond 93,000$            

SH18 Sheriff's Office HHI 911 Satellite 25S18 Not Started Bond 47,000$            

SH22 Sheriff's Office Buckingham Landing Bldg Upfit 
Phase 1

24SH22 Construction 
Phase

Bond 825,000$          

26,845,927$       
Administration:
CP8 Capital Projects Law Enforcement Campus 25CP08 Conceptual 

Planning
Bond 9,500,000$        $1M to get started up to $30M to get the 

project from planning to infrastructure  

Capital Projects Community Center (Construction) Bond 5,000,000$        $1M each for  design of (3) locations funded 
through ARPA funds.  

HH Airport St. James Church Bond 3,500,000$        Relocate church from the end of the airport 
runway to a different location and rebuild. 

Parks and Recreation:
PR24 Parks and 

Recreation
Old Burton Wells Restroom 24PR24 Design UR 450,000$          Design and Construction. This would expand 

the use of the old fields, by replacing the 
restrooms and concession.

PR12 Parks and 
Recreation

Burton Wells Regional Park and 
Old Burton Wells Park

24PR12 Not Started UR 1,380,000$       Design and Construction. This would expand 
the operation of this park from more than just 
practice fields but create one "Burton Wells 
regional park" by merging both facilities.

Passive Parks:
PP6 Passive Parks Bailey Memorial Park 2023032 Design UR 4,540,912$        A&E completed. Construction 

PP7 Passive Parks Cherry Hill Park 25PP07 Not Started UR 1,400,000$        Design and construction. Joint effort with 
the Town of Port Royal. Citizen interest and 
involvement. 

25,770,912$       

Totals Beaufort County Projects: 52,616,839$       

Outside Agency Projects:
BMH Affordable Housing $2,000,000.00
BMH New Hospital Project $8,000,000.00
TCL Future Government Complex $6,000,000.00

$16,000,000.00

$68,616,839.00Total 2025 Series Bonds:

16

Item 8.



17

Item 8.



18

Item 8.



19

Item 8.



20

Item 8.



21

Item 8.



22

Item 8.



23

Item 8.



24

Item 8.



25

Item 8.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL ORDINANCE 2021/24, WHICH 

ESTABLISHED THE SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING ENTERPRISE SYSTEM 

 

 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration & Economic Development Committee; March 11, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Pinky Harriott, CFO 

5 Minutes  

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

On May 24, 2021, through an ordinance duly adopted by Beaufort County Council ("County Council") 
and codified at Article I, II, VI, and VII of Chapter 62 of the code of ordinances of Beaufort County, 
County Council adopted enabling legislation which provided for the establishment of a Solid Waste and 
Eecycling Enterprise system.  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Due to developments since the creation of the Enterprise fund, staff reluctantly believes it is necessary 
to repeal Ordinance 2021/24 and its associated codified provisions at Article I, II, VI, and VII of Chapter 
62 of the Beaufort County Code of Ordinances in their entirety. This department will be moved back to 
the General Fund via the FY2026 budget process. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

No change in fiscal impact; the millage (3.2mils) associated with the SWR Enterprise Fund will return 
to the County Operations millage as was before. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Recommend moving ordinance to full Council.  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to recommend Ordinance be moved forward to Council.  

Motion to recommend denial of the Ordinance to Council for consideration. 

 

26

Item 9.



 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025/ 

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL ORDINANCE 2021/24, WHICH AMENDED ORDINANCE 

2020/19 AND ESTABLISHED THE SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING ENTERPRISE SYSTEM 

FOR PURPOSE OF PLANNING, DESIGNING, CONSTRUCTING, FUNDING, AND 

MAINTENING SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT PROGRAMS, 

PROJECTS, AND FACILITIES; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATING THERETO. 

WHEREAS, on May 24, 2021, through an ordinance duly adopted by Beaufort County Council 

("County Council") and codified at Article I, II, VI, and VII of Chapter 62 of the code of ordinances of 

Beaufort County, County Council adopted enabling legislation which provided for the establishment of a 

solid waste and recycling enterprise system; and 

WHEREAS, due to the insufficiency of the funds collected as part of the Solid Waste and 

Recycling Enterprise System, the County Council reluctantly believes it is necessary to repeal Ordinance 

2021/24 and its associated codified provisions at Article I, II, VI, and VII of Chapter 62 of the Beaufort 

County Code of Ordinances in their entirety; and 

WHEREAS, County Council has determined that it is in the best interest of the County to repeal 

Ordinance 2021/24 and to direct that the operation of the Solid Waste Recycling Enterprise System shall 

cease on the effective date of this Ordinance. 

WHEREAS, County Council has determined that it is in the best interest of the County that an 

appropriate millage be imposed as part of the annual budget process to provide for the expenses of solid 

waste and recycling and that this be added to the general fund and all expenses associated with solid waste 

and recycling be paid from the general fund. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL, in a 

meeting duly assembled, that Chapter 62, Articles I, II, VI, and VII, of the code of ordinances of Beaufort 

County, as amended by Ordinance 2021/24, are hereby repealed and modified as follows: 

A. Section 62-1 is repealed in its entirety; 

B. Section 62-2(c) is repealed in its entirety; 

C. Section 62-6 is repealed in its entirety; and 

  

D. Section 62-7 is repealed in its entirety. 

 

 

CONFLICTING ORDINANCES REPEALED: If any Section, Subsection, or Clause of this 

ordinance shall conflict with any Section, Subsection or Clause of a preceding ordinance of the County, 

then the preceding Section, Subsection or Clause is hereby repealed and no longer in effect. 

 

ADOPTED this ___ day of ________, 2025 

27

Item 9.



 

 

 

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

      

BY:_____________________________________ 

              Alice Howard, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

  

_____________________________ 

Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

28

Item 9.



29

Item 10.



RESOLUTION 2025/_____ 

 

A RESOLUTION RECONIZING THE POLICY SUPPORTING HOUSING FOR ALL 
NOT ONLY DURING FAIR HOUSING MONTH, BUT THROUGHOUT THE YEAR 

Whereas, March 17th 2025, marks the 57th anniversary of the enactment of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1968, Title VIII of which (42 U.S.C. 3601 et seq.) commonly known as the Fair Housing 
Act; and 

Whereas, the State of South Carolina enacted the South Carolina Fair Housing Law in 
1989 supporting the policy of Fair Housing without regard to race, color, creed, national origin, 
sex, familial status, and handicap, and encourages fair housing opportunities for all citizens; and 

Whereas, the County Council of Beaufort County is committed to addressing 
discrimination in our community, supporting programs that will educate the public about the rights 
to equal housing opportunities, and planning partnership efforts with other organizations to help 
assure every citizen of their right to fair housing; and 

Whereas, the County Council of Beaufort County rejects discrimination on the basis of 
race, religion, color, sex, national origin, disability, and/or familial status in the sale, rental, or 
provision of other housing services, and 

Whereas, the County Council of Beaufort County desires that all its citizens be afforded 
the opportunity to attain a decent, safe, and sound living environment. 

NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the County Council of Beaufort 
County does hereby designate April 2025 as Fair Housing Month and recognizes the policy 
supporting Fair Housing in encouraging all citizens to endorse Fair Housing opportunities for all 
not only during Fair Housing Month, but also throughout the year. 

Adopted this _____ day of _________________, 2025     

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

     _________________________________________ 
     Alice Howard, Chairman 
 

Clerk to Council 

 

____________________ 
Sarah Brock 

30

Item 10.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

A Resolution Approving Beaufort County Economic Development Corporation’s request to purchase 
14.77 acres for Economic Development at 134 Parker Drive. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Administration, Finance and Economic Development – March 17, 2025 

 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

John O’Toole, Executive Director, Beaufort County Economic Development Corporation 

10 Minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Purchase 14.77 acres +/- at 134 Parker Drive for future economic development 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

BCEDC would like to purchase 14.77 acres at 134 Parker Drive to hold for future economic development. 
The current parcel of land will be subdivided. This purchase will provide additional product with existing 
infrastructure. 

 

This property is close to Beaufort Commerce Park and is being purchased at $31,144.21 per acre, which 

is nearly $9,000/acre less than land nearby in the Beaufort Commerce Park.  
(Recently Sold at $40,000/acre)   

FISCAL IMPACT:  

 $460,000.00 from Account 1010-10-0000-55240 (Current Balance $3,293,237.10)  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Move forward to County Council for approval on March 24th. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Move forward to County Council for approval.   

Decline  

 

31

Item 11.



V I C I N I T Y   M A P not to scale

prepared for

PLAT OF
THE SUBDIVISION OF

PIN: R100-020-00-0158-0000
CONTAINING 27.74 Ac.

OWNED BY
MODERN TRACK

MACHINERY, INC.
TO CREATE

TRACT 1 (12.97 Ac.) &
TRACT 2 (14.77 Ac.)

NEAR BEAUFORT
BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

060 60 120

1 INCH = 60 FEET

SHEET       OF  11

field
12/16/24

plat
12/17/24

drawn
ABQ

reviewed
PPG

crew
TB

job 32538

Z:
\3

25
38

\3
25

38
.0

00
0\

Su
rv

ey
\D

W
G

\3
25

38
.0

00
0S

01
-B

d
ry

.d
w

g 
- D

ec
 1

6,
 2

02
4 

- 7
:4

1:
03

 P
M

682 Johnnie Dodds Boulevard  •  Suite 100
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464  •  843.849.0200

www.thomasandhutton.com

SITE

BEAUFORT COUNTY ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

PLANNING AND ROD USE ONLY

32

Item 11.

http://www.thomasandhutton.com


RESOLUTION 2025/-- 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE BEAUFORT COUNTY ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION’S REQUEST TO PURCHASE A 14.77 ACRE 

INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 134 PARKER DRIVE FOR THE 

ATTRACTION AND LOCATION OF INDUSTRY WITH THE ALLOCATED FUNDING 

FROM COUNTY COUNCIL.  

WHEREAS, Beaufort County recognizes the critical importance of economic development in 

Beaufort County for the development of economic growth and ensuring the prosperity of its 

citizens; and 

WHEREAS, The Beaufort County Economic Development Corp is charged with developing 

a more diverse economy for Beaufort County, developing tax-base and quality jobs for residents; 

and 

WHEREAS, The Beaufort County Council dedicated funding to the Economic Development 

Corp. in Resolution 2024/19 and resulting budget in 2024 for the funding the purchase(s) of quality 

properties and the build-out of infrastructure of development sites, in order to further economic 

development efforts that are in synch with the scale and environmental expectations of Beaufort 

County; and 

WHEREAS, Resolution 2024/19 required that County Funds used for these purposes would 

require County Council approval of specific acquisitions and infrastructure build-out as 

opportunities for economic development arise; and 

WHEREAS, The Beaufort County Economic Development Corp will be required to bring any 

proposed sale or other disposition of properties purchased with these funds to Beaufort County 

Council for approval by Resolution; and 

WHEREAS, The Beaufort County Economic Development Corp has secured a contract on 

14.77 acres located at 134 Parker Drive, which is a portion of the site currently occupied by 

Geismar (North American Rail); and 

WHEREAS, Geismar will continue their operation on the remainder of the site; and 

WHEREAS, this purchase will be a quality, developable site as it is already served by existing 

roads and the necessary utilities; and 

WHEREAS, The Beaufort County Economic Development Corp Board of Directors has 

approved the purchase of the subject property; and 

WHEREAS, The Beaufort County Economic Development Corp is officially requesting 

County Council approval of the purchase of 14.77 acres located at 134 Parker Drive, which is a 

portion of the site currently occupied by Geismar (North American Rail); and 

WHEREAS, The necessary funds reside in the account dedicated to fund product 

development, as described above; 

33

Item 11.



 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL in a 

meeting duly assembled that Council hereby approves the Beaufort Economic Development 

Corporation’s purchase of 14.77 acres located at 134 Parker Drive. 

 

 

Adopted this ___th of March 2025. 

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

BY:       

Alice Howard, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

 

     

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

 

34

Item 11.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommendation to Ratify and approve a Change order of $135,649.66 reference RFQ #092520E; A & E 
Services; Buckwalter Recreation Athletic Complex Expansion (BRACE) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee Meeting, March 17, 2025 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Dave Thomas, CPPO, Procurement Services Director 

Robert Gecy, additional comments  

(5 minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

RFQ # 092520E was issued on September 25, 2020, for Architecture and Engineering services for the 
Buckwalter Recreation Athletic Complex Expansion, as envisioned by the Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
prepared for the complex. Six firms submitted qualifications, and a selection committee chose Wood + 
Partners, Inc. as the most qualified vendor (see the attached council agenda). During design phase 1, the 
Capital Project Director, Eric Larson, approved and submitted a change order on March 10, 2023, for 
$135,649.66, which caused the project cost to exceed the agreed contract and contingency amount of 
$665,930.00 (See the attached change order request for $135,649.66 dated February 17, 2023).  Note- the 
first purchase order, PO# 20211345, was $561,600 and did not include the full approved contract amount 
covering the contingency. Note-this is a normal process to follow when entering a purchase order. The 
contingency is left off the PO to keep staff from allocating funds that may not be needed for their projects. 
The change order includes items due to scope additions from the aforementioned change order. In this case, 
since the original contract price was $561,600 and the Woods + Partners change order of $135,649.66 was 
more than 10% of the original contract price, the county council will need to approve the change order. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Purchase Order 20211345 was printed on June 24, 2021, for $561,600.00. No invoices were paid out on this 
Purchase Order. Purchase Order 20220686 was printed on October 22, 2021, for $561,600.00. On May 19, 
2023, a Change Order was completed adding $135,649.66 to result in the Purchase Order total being 
$697,249.66. The Department Head, Finance, and Procurement Services fully approved the Change Order 
request on May 18, 2023.  This Purchase Order was Carried Forward into FY 23. The total invoice that was 
paid out on this Purchase Order is $329,440.64, leaving a contract balance of $367,809.02 
Purchase Order 20240300 was printed on August 9, 2023, for $367,809.02. The total invoices paid on this 
Purchase Order were $162,747.10, leaving a contract balance of $205,061.92. This Purchase Order was closed 
in FY 25 and not carried forward per instructions from Finance at year-end.  
 
Requisition 250438 was entered in MUNIS for approval on August 28, 2024, requesting a Purchase Order for 
the remaining balance of $205,061.92 from the 2024 Purchase Order. Since the vendor has completed most 
of the change order work, the County Administrator has rejected the current requisition until the change 
order is ratified and approved by committee and council. 

 

 

35

Item 12.



FISCAL IMPACT:  

The change order uses account 2650-60-0000-54420-I2652, Bluffton Parks and Recreation Impact Fees, 
which, as of March 11, 2025, has a fund balance of $9,770,138.00 available.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends that the committee ratify and approve the change order cost of $135,649.66 to Woods + 
Partners for RFQ # 092520E A & E Services; Buckwalter Recreation Athletic Complex Expansion (BRACE) Phase 
1 Project. The new total contract cost is $697,249.66. 

 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny recommendation of a change order and ratification to Woods + Partners in the 
amount of $135,649.66, which will increase the total project contract amount to $697,249.66. Leaving a 
contract balance owed to the vendor of $205,061.92 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council to approve/deny the recommended change order. 

 

36

Item 12.



37

Item 12.



38

Item 12.



39

Item 12.



40

Item 12.



41

Item 12.



42

Item 12.



43

Item 12.



44

Item 12.



45

Item 12.



46

Item 12.



47

Item 12.



48

Item 12.



49

Item 12.



50

Item 12.



Finance, Administration, & Economic Development Committee 
 

1st Term needs 6/11 Council Votes 
2nd Term needs 8/11 Council Votes 
3rd Term needs 10/11 Council Votes 

 

Boards and Commissions Appointments and Reappointments 

Board of Assessment Appeals 
Andrew DiSalvo Term to be served: 2nd  Reappointment 

 

 

51

Item 13.



Andrew DiSalvo, CPA 
10 Tomlow Trace 

Beaufort SC 29906 
 

February 18, 2025 

 

Beaufort County 
Board of Assessment Appeals 
PO BOX 1228 
Beaufort SC 29901 
 
Dear Sir or Madam: 
 
This is a statement to verify that I, Andrew J. DiSalvo, CPA am seeking re appointment to the Beaufort 
County Board of Assessment Appeals. 
 
I would appreciate this appointment when my current term expires in 2025.  If you have any questions, 
please feel free to contact me at 203-805-1120 or Andrew.DiSalvocpa@gmail.com 
 
Respectfully Submitted 
 

 
 
 
Andrew J. DiSalvo CPA 
 
Cc: Paul Jernigan, Chair Beaufort County BAA, Elizabeth Rigg, Administrator, Beaufort County BAA 

52

Item 13.

mailto:Andrew.DiSalvocpa@gmail.com

	Top
	Item 5.	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	02.18.2025

	Item 7.	CFO Report
	Fin Comm-3.18.25
	Budget Transfer Report 3.17.25

	Item 8.	FY2025 Budget Amendment for Fund 4000- Capital Improvement Fund
	AIS- FY2025 Budget Amendment rev ph
	Budget ordinance ammendment 3-11 REV BH
	app A FY2025 Budget Amendment
	app B FY25 Capital Projects - 2025 Bonds-3.6.25
	fy 25 budget

	Item 9.	RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL ORDINANCE 2021/24, WHICH ESTABLISHED THE SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING ENTERPRISE SYSTEM
	AIS Resolution Repealing Enterprise Fund-PMH
	Ordinance - Repeal and Terminate SWR Enterprise rev bh

	Item 10.	Resolution Recognizing April 2025 as Fair Housing Month.
	AIS Fair Housing Month Resolution
	Recognizing Fair Housing Month Resolution 2025

	Item 11.	edc PURCHASE PARKER DRIVE
	AIS ECON DEV Purchase of 14.77 acres at 134 Parker Drive 3-17 GEISMAR TRACT 3-10
	2024-12-16_32538.0000S01-Subd Plat 1
	Resolution - Approval of Geismar Purchase 3-11 HArev

	Item 12.	Recommendation to Ratify and approve a Change order of $135,649.66 reference RFQ #092520E; A & E Services; Buckwalter Recreation Athletic Complex Expansion (BRACE)
	AIS Change order for BRACE and Ratification
	CountyChangeorder approve form Brace
	Copy of CC agendaColor
	Woods and Partners Change Order
	CountyCoucilAgendaapprovingProject

	Item 13.	REAPPOINTMENTS OF ANDREW DISALVO TO THE BOARD OF ASSESSMENT APPEALS FOR A FOUR-YEAR TERM WITH THE EXPIRATION DATE OF FEBRUARY 2029
	BOARD OF ASSESSMENT AIS

	Bottom

